State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 1 Appeal No. 2013AP1722 2013AP1723

RECEIVED

10-22-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

David Phillip Foley,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable David A. Hansher, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issue

In order to be convicted of theft by fraud, is it required that the false representation be made directly to the victim?

In legal parlance, the issue here is whether the evidence is sufficient as a matter of law to sustain the jury's verdict finding the appellant (Foley) guilty of theft by fraud where:

- Foley wrote a \$10,000 check payable to his business (Sport-n-Cuts) and gave it to his business partner, Rick Bystra, when Foley knew that there were insufficient funds in his account to cover the check.¹
- Bystra deposited the check in the Sport-n-Cuts account at Anchor Bank, believing it to be valid
- Foley then persuaded Bystra to issue him (Foley) a \$7000 check drawn on the Sport-n-Cuts account at Anchor Bank
- Foley used this check to persuade Anchor Bank to issue
 a \$7000 cashier's check made payable to one of Foley's

4

¹ Plainly, this may be characterized as a false representation made by Foley to Bystra

creditors (Dr. Krausen)

 Dr. Krausen successfully negotiated the cashier's check, and Anchor Bank lost approximately \$5,000 (which represents the difference between the \$7000 cashier's check and the legitimate balance remaining in the account)

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

Summary of the Argument

The criminal complaint alleges that Foley committed the crime of theft by fraud against Anchor Bank. One commits the crime of theft by fraud if he obtains title to property of another person by intentionally deceiving the person with a false representation which is known to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which does defraud the person to whom it is made.

Here, Foley made no false representation to Anchor Bank. Foley presented a check issued by Bystra and the check was not a forgery (i.e. it was not a false check). The check created a legal obligation on the part of Bystra to pay the check even if it were dishonored. Here, Anchor paid the check, which ultimately created an overdraft, but Anchor has the right to collect the amount of the overdraft from Bystra.

Thus, Anchor Bank is not a victim of theft by fraud. The bank lost no tangible property. If there is a victim, it is Rick Bystra. For this reason, the evidence is insufficient as a matter of law to support Foley's conviction for theft by fraud.

Statement of the Case

I. Procedural History

In Milwaukee County case number 2011CF2291², filed on May 24, 2011, the appellant, David Foley (hereinafter "Foley") was charged with-- among a number of other counts-- theft by fraud, contrary to Sec. 943.20(1)(d), Stats.³ As to that count, the complaint alleged that Foley obtained title to the property of Anchor Bank in the form of a \$7000 cashier's check by deceiving the bank with a false representation that Foley knew to be false.

Foley waived a preliminary hearing, and then entered not guilty pleas to all counts.

Later, on November 23, 2011, Foley was charged in

² Which corresponds to appeal number 2013AP1722

³ Theft by fraud is committed by one who, "(d) Obtains title to property of another person by intentionally deceiving the person with a false representation which is known to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which does defraud the person to whom it is made. "False representation" includes a promise made with intent not to perform it if it is a part of a false and fraudulent scheme."

MIlwaukee County case number 2011CF5654⁴ with five counts of bail jumping. The criminal complaint alleged that Foley committed the crimes alleged in 2011CF2291 while he was on bail for an earlier felony case.

The case proceeded to jury trial on October 29, 2012. The jury returned a verdict finding Foley guilty of all counts⁵, including the count alleging theft by fraud that is at issue in this appeal.

The court sentenced Foley-- including all counts-- to a total of fifteen years in prison, bifurcated as ten years initial confinement and five years extended supervision.

Foley timely file a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. There were no postconviction motions. Foley now appeals his conviction.

II. Factual Background

It is an enormous challenge to present the facts of this labrynthine case in a way that is comprehensible— and therefore useful— to the reader⁶. To that end, the focus will be on the evidence related to the theft by fraud charge.

⁴ This corresponds to appeal number 2013AP1723. The two cases were joined before the trial court. Foley filed a notice appeal from his convictions. This resulted in two court of appeals case numbers being generated. However, the court of appeals later consolidated the cases for briefing. There is no appellate issue for 2013AP1723. The only issue raised is in 2013AP1722.

⁵ A number of the bail-jumping charges were dismissed by the prosecutor

⁶ Evidently, the prosecutor felt a similar frustration. The criminal complaint in this case is sixty-seven pages long, complete with photographs, illustrations, and charts. (R:2)

On February 4, 2011, Dr. Anthony Krausen performed a face-lift on Foley. (Krausen dep. p. 8) Prior to the surgery, Foley had written a check to Dr. Krausen for his fees. Three days later, on February 7, 2011, Foley's check bounced. (Krausen dep. p. 9)

When Foley visited Dr. Krausen for a follow-up examination, Dr. Krausen naturally mentioned the problem with the check. Foley explained that the check had accidentally been written on a closed account, and so he issued the doctor a second check. (Krausen dep. pp. 10-12) The second check also bounced. (Krausen dep. p. 13)

Ultimately, on March 22, 2011, Foley appeared at Dr. Krausen's office with a cashier's check, drawn on Anchor Bank, in the amount of \$7000. Dr. Krausen successfully cashed the check.

This check is at the center of the controversy in this appeal.

Here is how Foley obtained the cashier's check. Several days before March 22, 2011, Foley wrote a \$10,000 check on his E*Trade account made payable to his business, Sport-n-Cuts barbershop. There were insufficient funds in the E*Trade account to cover the check⁷. Foley gave the check to

8

.

⁷ The state presented evidence of both the official E*Trade records, and also evidence of statements that were seized from Foley's apartment, showing that the E*Trade account never had sufficient funds to cover a \$10,000 check; and, additionally, prior to the check in this case, several other checks that Foley wrote on that account were returned NSF. (R:10-30-2012 trans. pp. 112-117) Thus, a reasonable inference is that at the time Foley wrote the \$10,000 E*Trade check to Bystra, Foley knew that there were insufficient funds to

his business partner, Rick Bysta (R:10-30-12 trans. p. 22), who, on March 17, 2011, deposited the check in the Sport-n-Cuts account at Anchor Bank. (R:10-29-2012 trans. p. 128, 129) Several days later, Foley persuaded Bystra to write a \$7000 check made payable to Foley from the Sport-n-Cuts account at Anchor Bank. On March 22, 2011, Foley took that check to Anchor Bank, negotiated it, and had the teller write a \$7000 cashier's check to Dr. Krausen. (R:10-29-2012 trans. p. 137) Significantly, there was no evidence that Foley made any representations to the teller except to provide the check to her, and to provide the necessary identification. (R:10-29-2012 trans. p. 147) The teller obtained authorization from her superior to issue the cashier's check as requested. 8 *Id*.

Foley presented the cashier's check to Dr. Krausen, and he cashed it. Anchor Bank claimed that it suffered a loss of \$5,380.72, which is the amount of the overdraft caused by the cashier's check (\$7,000) after the E*Trade check bounced. (R:10-29-2012 trans. p. 159)

-

cover it.

⁸ On March 22, 2011, the Sport-n-Cuts account at Anchor Bank had a balance in excess of \$10,000; however, that balance included the amount from the E*Trade check deposit that Bystra made on March 17, 2011. According to the bank teller, prior to the E*Trade deposit, the account never had a balance in excess of approximately \$2,800. (10-29-12 trans. p. 149). In other words, Foley cannot claim that he thought the account had sufficient funds to cover the Dr. Krausen check even if the E*Trade check bounced.

Argument

I. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Foley committed the crime of theft by fraud against Anchor Bank; Foley made no false representation to Anchor, and Anchor lost no property.

The criminal complaint alleges that Foley committed the crime of theft by fraud against Anchor Bank. One commits the crime of theft by fraud if he obtains title to property of another person by intentionally deceiving the person with a false representation which is known to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which does defraud the person to whom it is made.

Here, Foley made no false representation to Anchor Bank. Foley presented a check issued by Bystra and the check was not a forgery (i.e. it was not a false check). The check created a legal obligation on the part of Bystra to pay the amount of the check even if it were dishonored. Here, Anchor paid the check, even though it created an overdraft, but Anchor has the right to collect the amount of the overdraft from Bystra.

Thus, Anchor Bank is not a victim of theft by fraud. If there is a victim, it is Rick Bystra. For this reason, the evidence is insufficient as a matter of law to support Foley's conviction for theft by fraud.

A. Standard of appellate review

Here, the question is whether the evidence was sufficient to convict Foley of theft by fraud. The standard for reviewing an issue of the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case is well-known. This court has instructed:

[T]hat the standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is the same in either a direct or circumstantial evidence case. Under that standard, an appellate court may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501-502 (Wis. 1990).

B. The elements of theft by fraud

"We have long recognized that when a court construes an ordinance or statute, words must be given their common meaning." *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 639, 660 N.W.2d 656, 659

Foley is charged with theft by fraud. Sec. 943.20(1)(d), Stats., is violated by one who:

(d) Obtains title to property of another person by intentionally deceiving the person with a false representation which is known to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which does defraud the person to whom it is made. "False representation" includes a promise made with intent not to perform it if it is a part of a false and

fraudulent scheme

Under the plain meaning of the statute, in order for the crime of theft by fraud to be committed, the "false representation" must be made to the person who is alleged to be the victim of the crime (i.e. the person who lost the tangible property).

The supreme court also recently explained that a "false representation" is not limited to a promise made with intent not to perform it. The court wrote, "[P]roviding fictitious business names and stolen personal identifying information to a phone company with the intent of setting up temporary phone numbers constitutes a "false representation." *State v. Steffes*, 2013 WI 53, 347 Wis. 2d 683, 695, 832 N.W.2d 101, 107-08

C. Foley made no false representation to Anchor Bank in order to prompt the bank to issue the cashier's check; any false representation by Foley was made to Bystra.

Indisputably, Foley made a false representation to Bystra. Foley gave Bystra the \$10,000 check written on the E*Trade account when Foley must have known that the check would not clear.

Bystra was cajoled by Foley to write a \$7,000 check, payable to Foley, before Bystra confirmed that the E*Trade check had cleared. Nevertheless, under the evidence presented during the trial, when Bystra wrote the check to

Foley, he intended for it to be paid. Bystra actually signed the check. The check was not a forgery.

Foley then appeared at Anchor Bank, with the \$7000 check that Bystra had given him, and asked that the bank convert the check into a cashier's check made out to Dr. Krauser. There were no explicit false representations made by Foley to prompt *the bank* into issuing the cashier's check.

The remaining question, then, is whether Foley obtained title to the Anchor Bank's tangible property by making an implicitly false representation to the bank by presenting the bank with the \$7,000 check written by Bystra, when Foley knew that Bystra's check would ultimately create an overdraft?

Firstly, Bystra actually issued and signed the check he gave to Foley. The check was not a forgery. Bystra was negligent in issuing the check before he knew for certain that the E*Trade check had cleared.

Nevertheless, Bystra's check was valid. When a person issues a check, it creates a legal obligation on the part of the person to pay the amount of the check, even if the check is later dishonored. If the bank pays the check, as it did here, the check creates a legal obligation on Bystra's part to reimburse the bank for any loss if the check creates an overdraft. See, Sec. 404.401, Stats.

Thus, Anchor Bank did not lose title to any tangible

13

⁹ It is important to point out that the check was not a forgery. Bystra actually signed the check, and he believed that the account had sufficient funds to cover it.

property based upon any misrepresentation by Foley. Foley made no misrepresentation to the bank. Any misrepresentation was made to Bystra. Additionally, it is Bystra who lost tangible property. The bank did not.

As such, the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to prove that Foley committed the crime of theft by fraud against Anchor Bank.

Conclusion

For these reasons, it is respectfully requested that the court of appeals reverse Foley's conviction for theft by fraud, and order that judgment of acquittal be entered on that count.