RECEIVED

01-08-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2013AP1722-CR & 2013AP1723-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID PHILLIP FOLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID A. HANSHER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3859 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) whelanmf@doj.state.wi.us

B. Facts.

The State charged Foley with theft by fraud on the following grounds:

On March 22, 2011, at 5555 North Port Washington Road, Glendale, did intentionally, as party to a crime, obtain title to the property of Anchor Bank, to wit: \$7,000 in the form of an Official Check, by intentionally deceiving Anchor Bank with a false representation which he knew to be false, made with intent to defraud, and which did defraud Anchor Bank in an amount exceeding \$5,000 but not exceeding \$10,000, contrary to Wisconsin Statutes \$943.20(1)(d) & (3)(bm) and 939.05

 $(3:1).^2$

²All record citations are to the record in Case No. 2013AP1722-CR, the appeal from Milwaukee County Case No. 2011CF2291.

The complaint summarized the factual basis for this count as follows:

On March 17, 2011, Foley and his "Sport 'n Cuts" barbershop business partner, Rick Bystra, went to the Anchor Bank in Glendale Wisconsin. At that time, Bystra deposited a Foley E*Trade check [*i.e.*, a check from Foley's E*Trade account]—later determined to be worthless—in the amount of \$10,000 into the Sport 'n Cuts account there. Five days later, on March 22, 2011, Bystra wrote a check to Foley in the amount of \$7,000. Foley stated he needed the money to pay off a doctor's bill.

On March 22, 2011, ... Foley took the Bystra check and proceeded to the Anchor Bank in Glendale where he cashed the \$7,000 Bystra check knowing full well that the \$10,000 E*Trade check would never have cleared. Foley applied it to an "Official Check" drawn on the Anchor Bank in the amount of \$7,000 payable to Dr. Anthony Krausen.

(2:3).

At Foley's trial, the circuit court instructed the jury on the theft-by-fraud count using Wis. JI-Criminal 1453A (51:9-12). In pertinent part, the court explained, theft by fraud

> does not require the defendant directly communicated with the owner. The defendant is responsible for a statement made to a third party if the defendant intended or had reasons to expect the statement would be repeated to or its substance communicated to the owner and that it would influence the owner's conduct in the transaction"

(51:10).

Several trial witnesses testified about this series of transactions.

Melita James, a customer service representative at the Anchor Bank in Glendale, testified that Foley and Bystra came to the bank on March 17, 2011 (49:127, 134). With James's assistance, the men deposited a \$10,000 check from "E*Trade" into the Sport 'n Cuts account (49:128-29).³ Bystra made the deposit, with Foley standing next to him (49:144).

James also served Foley at the bank on March 22, 2011 (49:136, 146). "On that date, I cashed a check and also did a withdrawal for an official check" (49:136). The check she "cashed" was "a Sport 'n Cuts check drawn on Anchor Bank in the amount of \$7,000 payable to Mr. Foley and signed by Mr. Bystra" (49:137). James "had to put the check that Mr. Foley gave me [*i.e.*, the check signed by Bystra] into a GL ['general ledger'] and then take it out as ... an official check" or "cashier's check" (49:138, 146). The "official check" was in the amount of \$7,000 and payable to Anthony Krausen, M.D. (49:139).

Bystra testified. He said that he and Foley went to Anchor Bank on March 17, 2011 for several reasons. Most pertinently because Foley had "been trying to get some extra money to come in to infuse out of ... his trust account that he said he had. And he got some money from that that he was gonna put in" (50:32). Foley explained that he had received money from an alleged mother-inlaw, who put it into his account by mistake instead of the Sport 'n Cuts account. "And so he had to put it out of that account into the Sport 'n Cuts account" (50:33).

Asked by the prosecutor when Foley actually handed the \$10,000 check to him, Bystra explained:

We were both at the bank. And I went up to the window first, the teller window first, to be able to deposit the handful of [other] checks and then just to get the wire transfer. And then he stayed off in the back ... for a while and he was writing out some stuff. So I'm assuming he was doing this check here and the deposit slip.

(50:35). After Bystra deposited the other checks, Foley "came after he was filling out whatever he was filling out.

³At this time, Foley had \$10.01 in cash in his E*Trade account, and \$195.00 in stocks (50:126).

So just because he came up and put it in by himself" (50:38).

Defense counsel asked the same question, and Bystra gave a similar answer:

I don't believe that ... Dave gave me the \$10,000 check. He was at the bank when I was there. I took care of the wire transfer, I took care of putting the [other] checks in, and he was writing out some paperwork behind and then he walked up to the teller. I don't recall if he handed it to me when I was standing there or if he put it -- My recollection I believe is that he just put it on there for them to do.

(50:73). He also recalled:

[W]hen I was standing at the window taking care of the funds transfer, he was standing back and I was kind of just looking ... at him. And he picked up the check and he held it and he goes, see? Look. I got my signature on it. It's a real check. Thought it was kind of weird, but whatever. And then that's when he walked up to the desks and put it on the desk.... I don't recall if he just slid it the extra couple inches to her or if I did. I don't recall that.

(50:75-76).

After the deposit was made, Foley told Bystra that he needed a \$7,000 check to pay Dr. Krausen. "And then I started writing out the check for his doctor and ... he said no, stop, you can't write it out to his name. He wants it in cash" (50:39). Foley said "write it out to me, meaning himself, because he had to pay in cash. He said that he needed \$7,000 to pay in cash because he was getting it for half price since he was paying in cash instead of \$14,000" (*id.*). Bystra gave Foley the requested check on March 21 (50:40). Bystra did not go to the bank with Foley when Foley cashed this check (50:40-41).

Bystra ultimately learned that Foley's \$10,000 check from his E*Trade account was worthless (50:41).

Jacqueline Kress, Melita James's supervisor, testified (49:152-53). She affirmed that "Anchor Bank rel[ied] on the authenticity of the promise to pay \$10,000 when it was deposited into Anchor Bank on March 17th, 2011," and had it known that the check was worthless, would not "have advanced those funds in the form of an official check and given that check to ... Foley" (49:158-59). As the result of Foley's actions, the bank lost \$5,380.72 (49:160). This net loss reflects "some of the recoupments" Anchor was able to get from the legitimate balance in the Sport 'n Cuts account (*id*.).

C. Analysis.

Foley contends that there was insufficient evidence to support his guilty verdict on the theft-by-fraud count because "Foley made no false representation to Anchor Bank." Foley's Brief at 5. Foley does not deny the series of facts proved by the State: that he gave a \$10,000 check from his E*Trade account for which there were insufficient funds to Bystra to deposit in the Sport 'n Cuts account; that Bystra gave Foley a \$7,000 check because he believed the \$10,000 check was valid; that Foley presented this \$7,000 check to Anchor Bank knowing that it was not backed by sufficient funds; and that Foley then obtained a \$7,000 cashier's check from Anchor Bank. Foley's Brief at 12-13.

Foley's theory is that he made no false representation to Anchor Bank because the \$7,000 check he presented on March 22, 2011 "was not a forgery"; "created a legal obligation on the part of Bystra to pay ... even if it were dishonored"; that "Anchor has the right to collect the amount of the overdraft [created by its issuance of the \$7,000 cashier's check to Foley] from Bystra"; and thus "Anchor Bank is not a victim of theft by fraud." *Id.* at 5-6.

As an initial matter, the State notes that Foley did not present this theory of the case at trial and he has therefore forfeited it (51:44-56). *See State v. Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997) (issues not presented in trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal).

The State proved all seven elements of theft by fraud. First, Anchor was the owner of the money taken by Foley (49:158). Second, Foley made two false representations to Anchor. He made the first one on March 17 when, either directly or through the unknowing Bystra, he deposited a \$10,000 check into the Sport 'n Cuts account that he knew to be worthless (49:128-29, 144; 50:32-35, 73-76; 51:24). He made a second false representation on March 22 when he presented the \$7,000 check signed by Bystra that he alone knew was worthless (since it was "backed" by the aforementioned worthless \$10,000 check) (49:137; 50:126 51:24-25). Third, Foley knew these representations were false (50:39-40, 126). Fourth, he made the representations with the intent to deceive and defraud Anchor so that he could get money to pay his outstanding debt to Dr. Krausen (49:138; 51:48). Fifth, he obtained \$7,000 from Anchor (49:158). Sixth and seventh, Anchor was deceived and defrauded by Foley's misrepresentations (49:158-60).

Foley has two principal lines of attack.

First, he focuses on his presentation of the \$7,000 check signed by Bystra, insisting that it was a legitimate check because it "was not a forgery." Foley's Brief at 10. The main flaw in this argument is that it ignores the fact that Foley—either directly or indirectly using Bystra as his pawn—deposited a worthless \$10,000 check into the Sport 'n Cuts account. This was the first step in Foley's multi-step plan to defraud Anchor of \$7,000. The second flaw is that, just because the Bystra check was not a "forgery," Foley's presentation of the check when he knew that it was worthless (since it was based on the earlier worthless check) was a false representation made with an intent to deceive and defraud. His exchange of this check for a cashier's check was the final step in Foley's multi-step plan to defraud Anchor of \$7,000.

Foley's second line of attack is that Anchor lost nothing because Bystra was liable for the \$7,000. Since the check created a "legal obligation on the part of Bystra to pay the amount of the check even if it were dishonored," Anchor was not defrauded-maybe Bystra was defrauded, but Anchor wasn't. Foley's Brief at 10. "[T]he check creates a legal obligation on Bystra's part to reimburse the bank for any loss if the check creates an overdraft. See, Sec. 404.401, Stats." Id. at 13. This conclusory argument is woefully undeveloped and merits no response by the State and no consideration by the court. See State v. Jones, 2002 WI App 196, ¶38 n.6, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305. "A party must do more than simply toss a bunch of concepts into the air with the hope that either the trial court or the opposing party will arrange them into viable and fact-supported legal theories." State v. Jackson, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 337, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999).

Although the State is not required to build up Foley's argument in order to take it apart, it will point out some of the most obvious questions raised by the argument that Foley leaves unanswered.

The statute cited by Foley, Wis. Stat. § 404.401(1), provides that a bank in Anchor's position "may charge against the account of a customer an item that is properly payable from the account even though the charge creates an overdraft." In other words, the bank may choose to collect the funds from the customer; the customer is not automatically obligated by the statute to pay the funds. Significantly, Foley overlooks the fact that Bystra is not "the customer" under the statute. This was a "Sport 'n Cuts" account, not a "Rick Bystra" account.⁴ Maybe Anchor did try to recover the money from the company and maybe it was judgment-proof. We don't know, because this information is not in the record.

⁴The account was opened under the name Folordstra Management Group, Inc., which did business as Sport 'n Cuts Clubhouse Barbershop (50:67). Bystra was a signatory on the account; Foley was not (50:84).

Furthermore, the statute limits the definition of a "properly payable" item to one "authorized by the customer and … in accordance with any agreement between the customer and the bank." *Id.* We don't know anything about Anchor's agreement with Sport 'n Cuts.

Moreover, as a general matter, the fact that a fraud victim might somehow be made whole by civil law remedies has no bearing on whether or not he, she, or it is a victim of theft. Is a homeowner whose house is burglarized not a crime victim because his property is protected by homeowner's insurance? "The crime of theft by fraud is, as are all crimes, an offense against the people of the state of Wisconsin, and the victim's final accounting is irrelevant." State v. Kennedy, 105 Wis. 2d 625, 640, 314 N.W.2d 884 (Ct. App. 1981), quoted in Wis. JI-Criminal 1453A at 7 (note 7) ("Kennedy also held that an ultimate financial loss by the victim is not It is a principle of long standing that required"). repayment of stolen funds by the defendant does not relieve the defendant of criminal liability. See, e.g., McGeever v. State, 239 Wis. 87, 93, 300 N.W. 485 (1941) ("The repayment of money unlawfully converted is material only in so far as it may bear on the defendant's intent."). A fortiori, the victim's recoupment of stolen funds from another party cannot relieve the defendant of criminal liability.

Foley's argument has no merit. His conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that this court affirm the judgment and order from which this appeal is taken.